### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-1036

Lenard James Philmore

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR MARTIN COUNTY,
STATE OF FLORIDA

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Richard E. Kiley
Florida Bar No. 0558893
Assistant CCRC-Middle
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL MIDDLE REGION
JAMES V. VIGGIANO, JR.
Florida Bar No. 0715336
Assistant CCRC
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL MIDDLE REGION
3801 Corporex Park Drive
Suite 210
Tampa, FL 33619
(813) 740-3544
COUNSELS FOR APPELLANT

#

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY
EVIDENTIARY HEARING FACTS
A. TESTIMONY OF THOMAS GARLAND
CLAIM I
MR. PHILMORE WAS DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE GUILT/INNOCENCE AND SENTENCING PHASE OF HIS CAPITAL TRIAL, IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH, FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION ND THE CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, AND AS A RESULT, MR. PHILMORE-S CONVICTION AND DEATH SENTENCE ARE UNRELIABLE
CLAIM II
COUNSEL RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BY FAILING TO INVESTIGATE MR. PHILMORE—S CASE BEFORE ADVISING THAT MR. PHILMORE GIVE INCRIMINATING STATEMENTS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT, BY FAILING TO BE PRESENT WITH MR. PHILMORE DURING STATEMENTS GIVEN TO LAW ENFORCEMENT, AND BY FAILING TO SECURE A PLEA AGREEMENT PRIOR TO ALLOWING MR. PHILMORE TO GIVE INCRIMINATING STATEMENTS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT. MR. PHILMORE WAS DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE GUILT/INNOCENCE PHASE OF HIS CAPITAL TRIAL, IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH, FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND THE CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, AND AS A
RESULT, MR. PHILMORE=S CONVICTIONS AND DEATH SENTENCE ARE UNRELIABLE

#### CLAIM III

MR.	PHIL	MORE	WAS	DENI	ED	THE	EFFEC'	TIVE	ASS	SIST	'ANC	E OF	COUN	SEL	. AT
THE	SENT	ENCI	IG PE	IASE	OF	HIS	CAPIT	AL T	'RIAI	ı, I	IN V	TOLA	TION	OF	THE
SIXT	Н, Е	IGHTH	I, AN	D FO	URT	EENTI	H AMEN	IDMEN	ITS.	TF	RIAI	COU	NSEL	FAI	LED
TO A	DEQU.	ATELY	CHA	LLEN	IGE	THE	STATE:	S CA	SE,	AS .	A R	ESULI	THE	DE	ATH
SENT	FNCE	TS T	INREL	TABT	Æ.										. 47

#### CLAIM IV

#### CLAIM V

#### CLAIM VI

COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILURE TO OBJECT TO PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT DURING MR. PHILMORES TRIAL. THIS RENDERED MR. PHILMORES CONVICTION AND DEATH SENTENCE FUNDAMENTALLY UNFAIR AND UNRELIABLE IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION .................................50

### CLAIM VII

## CLAIM VIII

UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTE AMENDMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION
CLAIM IX
FLORIDA STATUTE 921.141 IS FACIALLY VAGUE AND OVERBROAD IN VIOLATION OF THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS, AND THE UNCONSTITUTIONALITY WAS NOT CURED BECAUSE THE JURY DID NOT RECEIVE ADEQUATE GUIDANCE IN VIOLATION OF THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS. MR. PHILMORE-S DEATH SENTENCE IS PREMISED ON FUNDAMENTAL ERROR WHICH MUST BE CORRECTED. TO THE EXTENT TRIAL COUNSEL FAILED TO LITIGATE THESE ISSUES, TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE
CLAIM X
DEFENDANT=S EIGHTH AMENDMENT RIGHT AGAINST CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT WILL BE VIOLATED AS DEFENDANT MAY BE INCOMPETENT AT TIME OF EXECUTION
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS 53
ARGUMENT I 54
THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE STRIKING OF JUROR HOLT WAS NOT PRETEXTUAL, TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN NOT ATTACKING THE GENUINENESS OF THE STRIKE
ARGUMENT II
THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT MR. PHILMORE WAS NOT DEPRIVED OF HIS FOURTH, FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND THE CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION. THE PRE TRIAL REPRESENTATION OF MR. PHILMORE FELL FAR BELOW THE STANDARDS SET IN STRICKLAND AND CRONIC
ARGUMENT III 80
THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILURE TO PRESENT EXPERT TESTIMONY TO EXPLAIN THE PRESENCE OF ORGANIC BRAIN DAMAGE IN SUPPORT OF MITIGATION THAT MR PHILMORE WAS UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF EXTREME MENTAL OR

EMOTIONAL DISTURBANCE 80
ARGUMENT IV 83
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN THE DENIAL OF THE CLAIM THAT MR. PHILMORE WAS DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES. TRIAL COUNSEL FAILED TO SUBJECT THE PROSECUTION TO A MEANINGFUL ADVERSARIAL TESTING IN THE GUILT PHASE OF MR. PHILMORES TRIAL BY CONCEDING GUILT WITHOUT CONSULTATION
CONCLUSION AND RELIEF SOUGHT 85
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 86
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 87

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Bertolotti v. Dugger, 883 F.2d 1503 (C.A. 11 (Fla.) 1989) 56
<u>Brewer v. Williams</u> , 430 U.S. 387, 97 S.Ct. 1232, 51 L.Ed. 2d 424 (1977)
<u>Collier v. Turpin</u> , 177 F.3d 1184 (11 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1999) 80
<pre>Cronic v. United States, 466 U.S. 648 104 S.Ct. 2039 (1984) 58</pre>
<u>Green v. State</u> , 572 So.2d 543 (Fla. 2 <sup>nd</sup> DCA 1990) 55
<u>Harvey v. State</u> , 2003 WL 2151139 (Fla.)
<u>Melbourne v. State</u> , 679 So.2d 759 (Fla. 1996) 54
Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 106 S.Ct. 1135, ** 1149 (U.S.R.I. 1986)
<u>Nixon v. State</u> , 857 So.2d 172 (Fla. 2003)
<u>Philmore v. State</u> , 820 So.2d 919 (Fla. 2002) 6
<u>Slappy v. State</u> , 522 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1988) 54
<u>Stephens v. State</u> , 748 So.2d 1028 (Fla. 1999) 54, 57, 80, 83
<u>Strickland v. Washington</u> , 466 U.S. 668 (1984) 57
<u>Watts v. Indiana</u> , 338 U.S. 49 S.Ct. 1347 (1947) 59
<u>Wiggins v. Smith</u> , 123 S.Ct. 2527 (U.S. 2003) 56
Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362, 120 S.Ct. 1495 (2000) 78

## REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

The resolution of the issues in this action will determine whether Mr. Philmore lives or dies. This Court has allowed oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument would be appropriate in this case, given the seriousness of the claims involved and the fact that a life is at stake. Mr. Philmore accordingly requests that this Court permit oral argument.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

# I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On November 14, 1997, Lenard Philmore and codefendant Anthony Spann were arrested by the Martin County Sheriffs Department for the offense of Armed Trespass on Posted Land. Also, on November 14, 1997, Ms. Kazue Perron was reported missing. Ms. Peron was the owner of an automobile observed being driven by Lenard Philmore prior to his arrest on November 14, 1997. Law enforcement knew that a bank in Indiantown had been robbed and suspected Mr. Philmore. Law enforcement had no other evidence that Lenard Philmore was involved in the disappearance of Perron. Codefendant Anthony Spann had given no statements to law enforcement.

The same day of his arrest on November 14, 1997, Lenard Philmore was contacted by Detective Gary Bach. (TR 1038) Mr. Philmore was without counsel. Mr. Philmore briefly discussed with Detective Bach the Indiantown Bank robbery, during which discussion Mr. Philmore admitted his participation. (SR 27-29) Mr. Philmore, when asked about the disappearance of Perron, denied any knowledge of her disappearance. (R. 792-795) Mr. Philmore asked to speak with an attorney.

As of November 15, 1997, Mr. Philmore was appointed Assistant Public Defender John Hetherington. (R. 790-791) Hetherington was appointed to represent Mr. Philmore on the Martin County armed trespass charge and the Indiantown bank robbery offense. (R. 790-791) Hetherington was aware from his conversations with Mr. Philmore that the police had already attempted to question him regarding a missing female out of Palm Beach County. (R. 792-793) Mr. Philmore told Hetherington that he had no knowledge or involvement in the disappearance of Perron. Hetherington, as of November 15, 1997, had not conducted discovery or investigation.

On November 18, 1997, upon the advice and with the approval of Hetherington, Mr. Philmore gave the first of a series of statements to law enforcement. The meeting was arranged by Hetherington and the State. Present at the November 18, 1997

taped statement were Agent David Von Holle, Detective Gary Bach, Mr. Philmore, and his attorney, John Hetherington. During the statement, Mr. Philmore continuously denied any involvement in the abduction of Perron. (SR. 34) Mr. Philmore did admit to an uncharged and unsolved robbery out of Palm Beach County.

As of November 18, 1997, law enforcement had no further evidence on the disappearance of Perron and the search for her continued. (SR. 39)

On November 20, 1997, a polygraph examination was performed on Mr. Philmore. (SR 43) The stated purpose of the polygraph was to ascertain the truthfulness of Mr. Philmore=s statements given on November 18, 1997. (SR 44) The polygraph was permitted with Hetherington=s approval. Hetherington was not permitted in the polygraph room during the examination. (SR. 45, 48-49) During the pre-test interview, Mr. Philmore changed his statement and admitted that he was present during the car jacking but was not present during the homicide nor was he the shooter. (SR 51-52, interviewing officer, Detective Dennis The notified attorney Hetherington that Philmore had changed his version of what had transpired. (SR 52) Attorney Hetherington terminated the polygraph examination and appeared to surprised that Philmore had not been totally honest. (SR 55, 86) Another police interrogation was scheduled for November 21,

# 1997. (SR 52)

On November 21, 1997, Mr. Philmore gave another statement to police. Detective Fritchie was told by attorney Hetherington that Philmore wished to give a tape-recorded video statement. (SR 53) The statement was initiated by Hetherington. (SR 58) Present at the statement were Detective Dennis Fritchie, Lenard Philmore, attorney John Hetherington, State Attorney Bruce Colton, and Assistant State Attorney Tom Bakkedahl. (SR 56) At the November 21, 1997 statement, Mr. Philmore gave additional information that he was present when the shooting took place and that he did not want to see the shooting so he turned his head and heard two shots. Mr. Philmore told the State where the body could be found and he led them to the body. (See PCR. Vol. IV p.313) Mr. Philmore continued to maintain he was not the shooter. (SR 60) Another polygraph examination was scheduled for November 23, 1999. (SR 61)

On November 23, 1997, Mr. Philmore gave law enforcement an additional statement upon advice and with approval of Hetherington. Another polygraph examination was conducted wherein Hetherington was not permitted in the examination room.

(SR 61) The stated purpose of the examination was to ascertain whether Mr. Philmore was the shooter. (SR 63) Mr. Philmore denied he was the shooter. (SR 63) Attorney Hetherington was

told that Mr. Philmore admitted to being the actual gunman. (SR 66) However, the transcript of the polygraph examination contains no reference to Mr. Philmore admitting that he was the shooter. Hetherington was told that Mr. Philmore admitted he was the shooter and the interview was terminated (SR 83) Another statement was scheduled for November 26, 1997. (SR 83)

On November 26, 1997, Mr. Philmore gave a final statement. (SR 68) Present at the final statement were Mr. Philmore, attorney John Hetherington, Deputy Dennis Fritchie and Assistant State Attorney Thomas Bakkedahl. (SR 68-69) At this interview, Philmore acknowledged that it was he who shot the victim. (SR 71)

On February 24, 1998, a written plea of not guilty was filed by Attorney Hetherington for the murder of Kazue Perron. (FSC ROA Vol. I-27).

On October 13, 1998, Attorney Hetherington filed a MOTION TO DETERMINE STATUS OF ATTORNEY. (FSC ROA Vol. I-68).

On December 17, 1998, the trial court ordered the appointment of special public defenders Thomas Garland and Sherwood Bauer. (FSC ROA Vol. I-76).

Philmore discharged attorney Hetherington and the trial court appointed independent counsel who prepared and argued Mr. Philmore=s motion to suppress was denied by the trial court. The

case proceeded to trial.

Lenard J. Philmore was charged by way of indictment with the offenses of first degree murder (count I); conspiracy to commit robbery with a deadly weapon (count II); carjacking with a deadly weapon (count III); kidnaping (count IV); robbery with a deadly weapon (count V); and grand theft (count VI). Codefendant Anthony A. Spann, was charged in the same accusatory instrument with the same offenses but his were set forth in counts VII through XII. The defendants were tried separately.

Various pretrial motions were filed and heard by the trial court, including Lenard Philmore=s Amotion To Suppress Statements

Of Defendant And Admission Of Evidence Obtained From Statement.@

This motion was denied and Lenard Philmore=s statements were admitted at trial over objection.

Trial proceedings culminated in verdicts of guilty as charged as to all offenses set forth in the indictment. Penalty phase proceedings were subsequently conducted and by a vote of twelve to zero, the jury recommended a sentence of death.

A Spencer hearing was held thereafter and memorandum from counsel reviewed by the trial court. In addition, a presentence investigation report was ordered and received by the trial judge. At sentencing, Lenard Philmore received the death penalty for his conviction of first degree murder and prison

sentences for his non-capital felony convictions. Lenard Philmore=s judgments, convictions and sentences including the sentence of death were affirmed in <a href="Philmore v. State">Philmore v. State</a>, 820 So.2d 919 (Fla. 2002).

On March 30-April 1 2004, an evidentiary hearing was conducted on Mr. Philmore=s 3.851 motion for post conviction relief. At the evidentiary hearing, the trial court heard testimony relating to Claims I, II, III, and V of the Defendant=s motions.

Claim IA was defendants contention that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to challenge the States contention that the striking of the prospective African-American juror, Tajuana Holt, was not pretextual. Testimony from Thomas Garland, the trial attorney was taken regarding this claim.

Claim II encompassed four ineffective assistance of counsel issues surrounding statements given by the Defendant to law enforcement during the time that he was represented by attorney John Hetherington. The primary witness in support of this claim was attorney John Hetherington.

Claim III was a penalty phase claim which alleged ineffective assistance of counsel in that trial counsel failed to adequately challenge the States case. The primary witness in support of this claim was Dr. Michael Maher.

Claim V was a Aconcession of guilt without consultation@claim. The primary witness in support of this claim was Thomas Garland.

The trial court denied relief in a written order dated May 12, 2004. This appeal followed.

# EVIDENTIARY HEARING FACTS

### A. TESTIMONY OF THOMAS GARLAND

Thomas Garland testified in Mr. Philmores evidentiary hearing. Mr. Garland testified that he was certified by the Florida Bar as an expert in criminal trial and criminal procedure. (See PCR. Vol.I p. 13). Mr. Garland was appointed by the court to represent Mr. Philmore and he assumed the duties of penalty phase counsel. (See PCR. Vol I p.14). The circumstances of Garlands appointment were noteworthy in that Mr. Garland testified:

John Hetherington was the primary defense counsel. And at some point during the initial process after his arrest and before we were appointed, there were, apparently, several statements that Mr. Philmore gave to the police and investigating authorities. And, basically, when we got in the case, there was a full confession, videotape, audiotapes, and I think in front of an audience of about five or six law officials, enforcement including Colton, himself. At that point I believe a conflict was between Mr. Hetherington, Mr. Philmore. The Public Defender=s Office withdrew. I was appointed And then, subsequently, Mr. Bauer was appointed to help out. (PCR Vol. I p. 15).

Mr. Garland testified that due to the confession, the trial team Garland and Bauer was basically handed a case wherein Mr. οf Philmore had fully confessed to his involvement and that the State had two suspects. The State had no body and therefore, the State had no proof that a murder even occurred until Mr. Philmore gave his confession. (See PCR. Vol.I P. 15-16). Mr. Garland also testified that he conducted the voir dire of the jury. (See PCR Vol. I p.17). Regarding the demographic makeup of the venire, Mr. Garland testified that prospective jurors would come from one of the higher per capita income areas in the State of Florida. Prospective jurors in this jurisdiction tend to be older, more conservative and that the jurisdiction was highly Republican with a very small, relatively, African-American, black population in this county. (See PCR Vol.I p.19).

Regarding AMENDED CLAIM I OF 3.851 MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, A. Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to challenge the State=s contention that the striking of prospective juror Holt was not pretextual, the following testimony was elicited:

Q. (BY MR. KILEY) Counsel, you were just showed a trial record - actually, it was a

trial record, page 845 to 846, and were asked if you recognized what was refreshed your recollection of the incident.

### A. Read what?

Oh. AMr. Colton: Your Honor, I would also point out that during the day today members of our staff spoke to that-this prospective juror=s mother, who is a member of the Clerk=s office. Without going into great detail of the questions and answers that were asked with respect to the juror, but she advised that we -

AMr. Garland: I=m going to object. This is hearsay.

AMr. Colton: Your Honor, this goes to our reasons and whether our reasons are genuine.

ATHE COURT: Overruled.

AMr. Colton: That her mother, her own mother advised us that we would do better not to have her daughter on the jury. And I would state to the Court that its nothing improper about talking to people who know the prospective jurors. Its done all the time.

This is a person who obviously knows the prospective juror. And without going into detail and without her going into detail, she advised us that we would be better off without her daughter on the jury.

ATHE COURT: Do you wish to be heard further, Mr. Garland?@

Q. Thank you, sir. Obviously, would you submit that you had some problems with the State doing this? Correct, sir?

MR.MIRMAN: I=m going to object. I believe this is the same thing he was asked about before. To be fair to the witness, he said it didn=t refresh his recollection, point where it=s fair to ask him questions about it.

THE COURT: Overruled.

- Q. (BY MR. KILEY) Sir, you can answer.
- A. Sure. Yes. I mean,-
- Q. Is it safe to assume, sir, if you did not have a problem with this colloquy, you would not have made the correct objection? Right?

- A. Okay. Sure. Yes.
- Q. Did you then ask that this prospective juror=s mother, who worked in the Clerk=s office, be questioned by the Court?
- A. I don=t recall, but I don=t believe so.
- Q. Did you consider sir, I mean, if one looks at the statement, without going into great details of the questions and answers that were asked of the prospective juror, did you consider that a reason to exclude this woman from testifying?
- A. I wasn=t racially-motivated. And as far as I know, the standard that goes to the genuineness, I think they were exercising a peremptory. I=m not sure. I -
- Q. Well, what about pretextual? What is a pretextual reason, sir? As an attorney you must have heard the term.
- A. I heard of pretextual stops.
- Q. How about a pretextual reasons?
- A. Sure, we all have pretextual reasons. What=s the question?
- Q. What is a pretextual stop?
- MR. MIRMAN: I=m going to object to the relevance of that question.
- MR. KILEY: I=11 tie it up.

THE COURT: Overruled.

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