IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC04-1036

LENARD JAMES PHILMORE,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA, (Criminal Division)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

Leslie T. Campbell Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 0066631 1515 North Flagler Drive 9th Floor West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone: (561) 837-5000 Facsimile: (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

Point IV - The court's factual finding of a agreement by counsel and client to the strategy on conceding to <u>second-degree</u> <u>murder</u> and the underlying felonies is supported by competent, substantial evidence. Moreover, such strategy was sound in light of Philmore's prior violent felony conviction and full, detailed police statement confessing to the abduction and murder of Kazue Perron. The strategy of trying to obtain a life sentence was reasonable and Philmore has not shown that there is a reasonable probability he would have received a life sentence absent the concession. Such decision comports with <u>Florida v.</u> <u>Nixon</u>, 125 S.Ct. 551 (2004).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

POSTCONVICTION RELIEF WAS DENIED PROPERLY AS FAILED то PROVE PHILMORE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE ARISING FROM THE COMPLETENESS OF COUNSEL'S OBJECTION TO THE STATE'S PEREMPTORY STRIKE OF POTENTIAL AFRICAN-AMERICAN JUROR HOLT (restated)

As he did in Amended Postconviction Claim IA, (PCR.9 1134-42; PCR.10 1282-87), Philmore asserts that the State's use of a peremptory strike against potential African-American juror Holt ("Holt") was pretextual and in violation of <u>Melbourne v. State</u>, 679 So.2d 759 (Fla. 1996) and <u>Slappy v. State</u>, 522 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1988). While the defense objected, Philmore asserts that counsel should have asked further questions to establish the pretextual nature of the strike and that the State's allegedly "vague" reasons for the strike "indicate that this strike was used under pretext." (IB 55-56). Failure to inquire further, permitted the striking of the juror. This, Philmore points to as prejudicing him. He asserts that had Holt been on the jury she "could have swayed" the jury to vote for life. (IB 56).

Contrary to Philmore's position, relief is not required. Philmore presented no evidence the strike was pretextual and this Court had previously rejected the challenge to the peremptory strike. Ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) has not been

proven. The court's rejection of this claim after an evidentiary hearing must be affirmed.

The standard of review of claims of ineffective assistance following an evidentiary hearing under <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), is *de novo*, with deference given the court's factual findings. This Court recently stated:

... we review the deficiency and prejudice prongs [of *Strickland*] as "mixed questions of law and fact subject to a *de novo* review standard but ... the trial court's factual findings are to be given deference. So long as the [trial court's] decisions are supported by competent, substantial evidence, this Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact and, likewise, on the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be given to the evidence." *Sochor v. State*, 883 So.2d 766, 781 (Fla. 2004) (quoting *Porter v. State*, 788 So.2d 917, 923 (Fla. 2001)) (emphasis omitted).

<u>Arbelaez v. State</u>, 30 Fla. L. Weekly S65, S66 (Fla. Jan. 27, 2005). See <u>Stephens v. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999) (requiring *de novo* review of ineffective assistance of counsel); Sims v. State, 754 So.2d 657, 670 (Fla. 2000).

For a defendant to prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, he must establish (1) counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, <u>and</u> (2) but for the deficiency, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceeding would have been different. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. 688-89. This Court has explained:

First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that

counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable.

<u>Valle v. State</u>, 778 So.2d 960, 965 (Fla. 2001) (quoting <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 687). In assessing an ineffectiveness claim, the Court must start from a "strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 688-89. "Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential" and "the distorting effects of hindsight" must be eliminated and a "strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 688-89.

During the Case Management Hearing, the court ruled that Philmore could present evidence on his amended Claim IA (PCR.1 9-10). Based upon the pleadings and evidentiary development, the court concluded:

This claim is legally insufficient and procedurally barred. First, the Defendant has failed to allege any facts demonstrating that the strike was pretextual. Additionally, the issue of the State's exercise of a peremptory challenge against this juror was raised on

appeal. Claims previously raised on direct appeal cannot be raised under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel in collateral proceedings. Sireci v. State, 469 So.2d 119 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 478 U.S. 1010, 106 3308, 92 L.Ed.2d 721 (1986).

(PCR.10 1337-38). With respect to Claim IC, wherein Philmore was asserting counsel was ineffective for failing to preserve this issue for appeal, the court concluded:

As to counsel's failure to preserve for appeal the issue of striking the only potential African-American juror, this claim fails as the Defendant cannot demonstrate that he was prejudiced. The Florida Supreme Court reviewed the issue, even without it being preserved, and found that the claim was without merit because the State advanced "a facially raceneutral non-pretextual reason for peremptorially challenging Holt." Philmore at 930.

(PCR.10 1338). The record and case law support these findings and conclusions.

In Philmore's amended Claim IA, he pointed to the trial record and asserted that the State's reasons for striking Holt were pretextual and counsel should have taken the opportunity to rebut the State's claim that the reasons were not race-based. (PCR.9 1136-37). However, in the evidentiary hearing, Philmore merely questioned Thomas Garland ("Garland") about his actions (PCR.1 19-23). Philmore presented nothing to establish that the peremptory strike was a pretext. As such, the court accurately found Philmore had not demonstrated there had been a pretextual strike. (PCR.10 1338). <u>Cf. Freeman v. State</u>, 761 So. 2d 1055,

1061 (Fla. 2000) (opining "[the] defendant bears the burden of establishing a prima facie case based upon a legally valid claim. Mere conclusory allegations are not sufficient to meet this burden."); <u>Ragsdale v. State</u>, 720 So. 2d 203, 207 (Fla. 1998) (stating that although courts are encouraged to conduct evidentiary hearings, a summary/conclusory claim "is insufficient to allow the trial court to examine the specific allegations against the record").

Moreover, as pointed out in the State's initial responses to this claim, and in its written closing, the matter is procedurally barred. (PCR.6 609-13; PCR.9 1162-69; 1225-26). On direct appeal, Philmore asserted that the peremptory strike of Holt was pretextual. This Court rejected the matter finding: "[m]oreover, we conclude that even if this claim was not procedurally barred, it has no merit because the State has advanced a facially race-neutral non-pretextual reason for peremptorily challenging Holt." Philmore, 820 So.2d at 930. It inappropriate to use a different argument, such is as ineffectiveness of counsel, to re-litigate the same issue. State 777 So.2d 342, 353 n.14 (Fla. 2000) (finding v. Riechmann claims procedurally barred because defendant was couching them in terms of ineffective assistance when they had been raised and rejected on direct appeal).

Although an ineffective assistance claim normally is cognizable in postconviction, presentation of the claim is not valid when used to relitigate an issue that was previously raised and rejected on appeal. Brown v. State, 775 So. 2d 616, 621 n.7 (Fla. 2000) (precluding attempts to relitigate claim that defendant was entitled to additional peremptory challenges by couching issue as a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel). Philmore is not permitted to recast a direct appeal claim as one of ineffective assistance of counsel and obtain a Rivera v. State, 717 So. 2d 477, 480 n.2 second review. See (Fla. 1998) (finding it impermissible to recast claim which could have or was raised on appeal as one of ineffective assistance in order to overcome the procedural bar or to relitigate and issue considered on direct appeal); Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1995) (opining "[t]o counter the procedural bar to some of these issues, Cherry has [impermissibly] couched his claim on appeal, in the alternative, in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to preserve or raise those claims").

Furthermore, Philmore has not carried his burden of proving both deficient performance and prejudice under <u>Strickland</u> because he failed to bring forth any evidence that the strike was a pretext. During the evidentiary hearing, Garland noted he acknowledged the defense would want African-Americans on the

jury, but was realistic about the possibilities given that the population was small in the county (PCR.1 18-19). Garland, did dispute the trial record, and vaguely recalled not the circumstances regarding his challenge to the striking of Holt (PCR.1 18-23, 39-42). He conceded the State's strike of Holt was not racially motivated (PCR.1 40). When questioned why he did not delve further into the State's reason for striking Holt, Garland offered that he must have been satisfied - he had objected, it was overruled and he "moved on.". In fact, in response to the questions regarding his failure to inquire into how many other "mothers of prospective juror of the white race" that the State staff interviewed, Garland made note that Holt's mother was a clerk in the courthouse. (PCR.1 44). He saw no pattern emerging from the State's striking of Holt (PCR.1 42-44). When objecting to the strike, Garland was aware of State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984); State v. Slappy, 522 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1988); and Melbourne v. State, 679 So.2d 759 (Fla. 1996) and their discussions of a challenge to a juror on a racial basis. He objected to the strike on those grounds, but was overruled. Garland relied on the record with regard to Holt's juror questionnaire (PCR.1 62-63).

The trial record establishes that voir dire commenced with the court inquiring about strongly held beliefs regarding the death penalty, ability to weigh sentencing factors, personal

hardships, and knowledge of the case, parties, and/or witnesses (ROA.9 186, 218-43). Holt did not respond to these questions, and at commencement of the second day of voir dire, the State noted Holt had been sleeping⁹ (ROA.11 476).

When questioned, Holt attested she had no problem serving and admitted her mother, Rosa Holt, was the managing clerk in the judge's division. After a series of questions to which Holt gave monosyllabic answers, the State asked the rhetorical question, "You just don't really care, do you?" She acknowledged her written questionnaire indicated those convicted should not receive the death penalt $\underline{\mathbf{y}}$, but should stay in prison for life. Later, she stated that death may be appropriate, but should not be the sole option (ROA.11 507-09.

The defense objected when the State sought to use a peremptory strike for Holt. In response, the State Attorney pointed out Holt had vacillated in her opinion about the death penalty; on the questionnaire, she indicated she was against it, but in court, she said it may be appropriate. The State was uncertain upon which answer to rely. Further, Rosa Holt had indicated to State staff members that it would be better if her daughter did not sit on the jury. The Assistant State Attorney

⁹ The State sought Holt's excusal for cause on the basis she had been sleeping. In denying the challenge, the court agreed that from the State's angle of view, it may have looked as though Holt were sleeping, but she was awake.

reminded the court Holt had been sleeping. The variance between Holt's written and verbal answers, was found by the court to be a race-neutral basis for the strike, and from the totality of the circumstances, the reason was not a pretense, but was genuine, and that the State's "other basis" was genuine (ROA.13 836, 844-49). The court reasoned:

First, that the explanation given is facially race neutral.

Secondly, the Court, again, as previously stated, is aware of the sensitive nature of the case and (sic) bar and the scrutiny that will be given this case. I am highly aware of that. But I have reviewed the questionnaire. I listened intently to the responses given by Ms. Holt, because candidly, I was concerned that that issue may arise. There is no question in my mind, that given all the circumstances surrounding the strike, the explanation is not a pretense.

The Court would state again that I believe and feel strongly through the responses given by the juror, the explanation given by the State and the review of the jury questionnaire, that the basis and explanation given is genuine, and accordingly, I'm going to allow the strike on a peremptory basis.

(ROA.13 848-49).

Deficient performance has not been shown. Counsel objected to the strike of Holt. <u>See Neil; Slappy; Melbourne</u>. In response, the State Attorney pointed out Holt had wavered in her opinion about the death penalty; on the questionnaire she indicated she was against it, but in court, she said it may be appropriate. The State was uncertain upon which answer to rely. The other reason was that Rosa Holt had indicated it would be

better if her daughter did not sit on the jury. This court contemplated the variance between Holt's written and verbal answers, found such was a race-neutral basis for the strike, and from the totality of the circumstances, the reason was not a pretense, but was genuine as was the State's "other basis." (ROA 836, 844-49). This ruling was affirmed on appeal. <u>Philmore</u>, 820 So.2d at 930. Philmore has not presented any evidence that Rosa Holt's statement was false or that the State misrepresented it in any way. As such, he has failed to carry his burden of proving deficient performance. <u>Rivera</u>, 717 So.2d at 486 (finding where defendant fails to present evidence supporting claim, relief must be denied).

Furthermore, no prejudice can be shown as this Court has reviewed the record and determined that the State's strike was "facially race-neutral and non-pretextual." <u>Philmore</u>, 820 So.2d at 930. Based upon this, it cannot be said that, but for counsel's alleged error, the result of the proceeding would have been changed. Relief must be denied. <u>Cf. White v. State</u>, 559 So.2d 1097, 1099-1100 (Fla. 1990) (rejecting ineffectiveness claim regarding failure to preserve issues for appeal based upon direct appeal conclusion that unpreserved alleged errors would not constitute fundamental error).

POINT II

PRE-INDICTMENT DEFENSE COUNSEL RENDERED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE WHILE CONTENDING WITH A CLIENT WHO ACTIVELY LIED TO COUNSEL AND CONCEALED THE FULL EXTENT OF HIS PERSONAL INVOLVEMENT IN THE CRIMES UNDER INVESTIGATION (restated)

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